1948

Glendora Jackson v. Arthur Larron Colston and Mary A. Zupo, doing business as Posture-Form Studio : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendants, Arthur Larron Colston and Mary A. Zupo, were partners operating a business in the McIntyre Building in Salt Lake City, Utah, under the name and style of Posture-Form Studio (Tr. 18). They held themselves out as being able to assist in tissue rejuvenation, weight reduction, muscle and nerve relaxation, and further, that they could aid and improve the movement and flexibility of joints (Tr. 18). In such business for the purposes indicated they used what is known as an infra-red lamp and also a "depolray" lamp. They charged \$17.50 for thirteen treatments. The first treatment was called a courtesy treatment; it was to demonstrate the kind of treatments given (Tr. 19-207).

Plaintiff went to the defendants because she was over weight and further because she was having trouble with her left ankle, which had been sprained some eight years before.

On March 18, 1946, plaintiff began the regular course of treatments and received them two or three times a week until almost the 15th of April, 1946. She was first placed on what was called table No. 1 (Tr. 210) for a period of 20 minutes. This table had some kind of mechanical action which massaged certain portions of the plaintiff's body. No heat or lamps were applied to plaintiff's body on this table, but she was given inhalations of oxygen. She was then placed on table No. 2 another mechanical contraption which massaged other portions of plaintiff's body. In connection with this table, there was used what was called a "de-polray" lamp (Tr. 211).

The "de-polray" lamp was a fake according to the testimony of "Doctor" Plumb, a witness for the defendants, which generated a very small amount of heat and simply produced a magnet inside of the lamp that could pick up small nails, hairpins, and things of that sort, and the small magnetic force which emanated from the lamp could not possibly have any effect on the human body (Tr. 258).

This lamp was placed about an inch from plaintiff's left ankle and was left on for a period of 10 minutes (Tr. 212). After being on table No. 2 for a period of 10 minutes she was placed on table No. 3, which was another mechanical table and which shook the entire body of the plaintiff. On this table another lamp was used which was placed approximately from 24 to 30 inches from plaintiff's ankle (Tr. 215).

This third table was called "Sea Biscuit," the motion resembling that of the famous running horse of that name. This lamp was larger than the one used in connection with table No. 2. It was called an infra-red lamp and was applied for almost ten minutes.

At about the fifth treatment the plaintiff noticed that her ankle was becoming inflamed, or as she described it, "a flaming area." (P. 74.) The ankle became purplish red and was very painful and she had to go back and forth in a cab. She spoke to the attendant about it who told her, "You always get worse before you get better." (P. 75.) She progressively got worse and in April, the heel broke open and also the toes, the ankle had swollen to about twice the normal size and was very much inflamed and dark looking. They continued to use the lamp which just produced a warm comfortable feeling. In the last treatment received there was a feeling of heat (P. 75).

She showed Mrs. Zupo the ankle and that defendant stated that she would massage it, but plaintiff refused as she was worried about its condition. By the time for the eleventh treatment, about April 15, 1946, her ankle had become so painful and inflamed that she had great difficulty in walking. Towards the latter part of May, 1946, she called a doctor (Tr. 85), who instructed her how to care for the ankle. Other doctors later were also consulted concerning the condition of plaintiff's ankle.

The following testimony of Doctor Ray T. Woolsey and Doctor Alexander might be helpful to the court.

Dr. Ray T. Woolsey, one of the physicians who treated plaintiff, testified that the plaintiff talked with him first over the phone and then came to his office; that she was suffering from a discharging sore near the ankle (Tr. 105); that he examined it and from the examination concluded that she had been burned; that it would require a lot of treatment; that he recommended that she see some surgeon for an operation as he was confining his work to obstetrics and gynecology. He recommended that she keep wet dressings on it and wash the burned area with some mild antiseptic; that there had been a destruction of tissue around the sore spot (Tr. 106); that it did not have the appearance of being a flame burn; that there was nothing to indicate that it was a flame burn. The Doctor then testified:

“Q. Doctor, are you familiar with burns from electricity, from applying electric treatment, and burns of that kind?

A. Not specifically. I know they produce a definite—more or less a charring, not charring—the tissues become white, the circulation is destroyed due to the action of the electric heat on the tissues.

Q. What would you say, in your opinion, whether the electric heat could cause such a burn as you saw?

A. I think so, sir.

Q. And if caused by electric heat, it is usually quite a deep burn, deep into the tissues?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did this have that appearance deep in the tissues?

A. Yes, a deep hole in the tissues where it sloughed out, and this hole was a quarter to half of an inch deep then.

Q. And burns of that kind, what would you say as to whether or not in your opinion they are much more difficult to heal than an ordinary burn from flame?

A. There is no way of telling how deep it will go, and when the tissues are destroyed from electric heat of that kind, the tissues usually slough out, and the only thing to do is wait until its sloughs out, until you see what it is, and let the scar tissue fill the hole."

Dr. Alexander who also treated the plaintiff for the burns testified that he first saw her in June of 1947. He testified in part as follows:

"A. And on the left ankle there was a large ulcerated sore, oh, I would say almost the size of a quarter, with two small other ulcerated areas in close association with it, and around the whole ulceration there was a reddened area, it was tender and swollen, and very painful to the touch. And this area, in addition to the area of the sores, was about as large as a dollar.

There seemed to be—there was considerable tenderness along the side of Mrs. Jackson's leg extending almost as far as the knee; she was unable to bear any weight on it without having considerable pain."

* * *

"I inquired very carefully into the history of Mrs. Jackson, she told me she had a series of treatments, electric heat treatments of some sort applied to that ankle and I, after eliminating other possibili-

ties which I didn't find responsible for it, came to the conclusion the only thing that could cause it was the electric treatments she had been subjected to.

Q. And would electric treatments cause such a condition?

A. Yes, if the electric treatment is too strong, too continuous, or if it is applied too frequently when the tissue is not of good nutrition."

The defendants so far as the record shows had no training in medicine or the treatment of injuries or sickness. The testimony of Mary Zupo is very illustrative. She had graduated from the South High school in Salt Lake City, and following her graduation had taken a business course at Henager Business College; she then became an office secretary in an accounting office where she took shorthand and typewriting. From there she went into the "Posture-Form Studio" to give the treatments in question. She had never had any training in medicine. The defendant, Colston, who was not present in court, instructed her how to give treatments and how to use the tables. She became his partner in 1944. She had made a self-study of dietetics, anatomy, and physiology; that for a reducing diet they used a printed pamphlet (Tr. 244).

We are not interested in this appeal as to the extent of plaintiff's injuries. The medical testimony, however, as set forth above is very corroborative of plaintiff's evidence that she suffered from electrical burns. Plaintiff continued to receive medical treatment for her burns from May, 1947, practically to the time of trial. That the lamp on table No.

3 could burn can scarcely be denied. On one occasion, the lamp caused the leather on the table to emit an odor because of the heat (Tr. 80).

In addition to the plaintiff's testimony and the medical testimony, we have the admission by the defendant Zupo that the defendants had burned plaintiff. During the month of August, 1946, plaintiff went to the defendants' place of business and there talked to the defendant Zupo concerning her condition and showed her ankle to her. At that time the defendant Zupo stated that they, the defendants, had burned her (Tr. 89). It is undisputed that the lamps were under the exclusive care of the defendants. None of the patrons were allowed to operate the lamps, and the patrons were not even allowed to get off a table without the aid and assistance of defendants (Tr. 73, 74, 216, 295-298). The defendant Zupo, of course, denied that she told plaintiff that she had been burned. The defendants also produced an electrical engineer, a so called expert, who testified that he believed that the lamps used could not burn anyone.

At the conclusion of all the evidence, the defendants each made a motion for a directed verdict of, "No cause of action," (Tr. 333, 334). The court granted the motion stating, "I am of the opinion that the jury could do nothing more than speculate as to the cause of the injuries that the plaintiff suffered as far as this evidence is concerned." (Tr. 334, 335.)

Within the time allowed by law, the plaintiff duly filed a motion for a new trial which was by the court denied.

A statement of the errors upon which plaintiff relies for a reversal of the judgment of the court below:

1. The Court erred in directing a verdict in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff.

2. The Court erred in overruling and denying the plaintiff's motion for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

Both of the above referred to specifications of error for the purpose of this argument should be considered together. The sole and only question we are concerned with here is whether or not there was sufficient evidence adduced on the part of the plaintiff to take the case to the jury. We submit that in view of the plaintiff's statement that the defendants admitted that they had burned her and that the doctors who were caring for her were treating her for an electrical burn, and that there was no evidence of the plaintiff ever having been burned, except at the defendants' place of business, that the jury should have been allowed to consider the matter and determine where the truth lay.

The testimony is undisputed that the lamps used by the defendants were under their exclusive care and control and that they were the only ones who operated or attempted to operate them, and that at no time were the lamps operated by the plaintiff; that on each occasion, it was the defendants who placed the lamps upon and over plaintiff's ankles. In view of the undisputed testimony that the lamps were under the exclusive care of the defendants and that a burn would not ordinarily result from the use of the lamps if they were

operated properly, and which in the course of ordinary events would not burn the plaintiff, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* applies.

That the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is applicable to the case at bar is indicated by the following cases applied to similar situations.

In *Shauvin v. Krupin*, 4 Cal. App. (2d) 322, 40 P. (2d) 904, the plaintiff while getting a permanent wave at defendant's beauty shop received a scalp burn. She brought an action against the defendants alleging in general the acts performed by the defendants in the course of their work. The acts constituted the entire operation undertaken by defendants in which plaintiff might have received her injuries and they were all charged to have been done in a negligent manner. In affirming the judgment the court said:

"It is a case in which the application of the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine is imminently just and proper. The devices used in the process were under the exclusive control of the defendants. The injury was one which in the natural course of things would not have occurred, had the defendants used due care, and plaintiff was therefore entitled to recover, unless the defendant offered a satisfactory explanation to overcome the presumptive evidence of their negligence."

In *Higgins v. Byrnes*, 274 Ala. App. 440, plaintiff went to the defendant's beauty parlor to get a permanent wave. She was burned by the apparatus. The court said that there was no evidence that the apparatus used was defective and that it followed that the injury to plaintiff was caused by the

failure of the defendant's operator to use the necessary precautions to protect plaintiff's scalp, and this failure was negligence.

See also

Pearson v. Butts (Iowa) 276 N. W. 65;
Davis v. Graves, 250 Ky. 654, 63 S. W. (2d) 803;
Swedin v. Friedman, 9 La. App. 44, 118 So. 787;
Gavin v. Kluge, 275 Mass. 372, 176 N. E. 193.

The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* has also been held applicable in cases involving the use of X-ray machines and in giving treatments. In this connection, see:

Waddell v. Woods, 158 Kans. 469; 148 P. (2d) 1016, 152 A. L. R. 629.

Also

Gray v. McLaughlin (Ark.) 179 S. W. (2d) 686;
Ragin v. Zimmerman, 206 Cal. 723, 276 P. 107;
Holcombe v. Magee, 217 Ill. App. 272.

The opinion that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* could be invoked in an action where a patient sought recovery for burns allegedly received when being treated by his physician with an X-ray machine was expressed in *Johnson v. Marshall*, 241 Ill. App. 80. There the court said:

"The X-ray was under the exclusive control of the defendant, and there is evidence that the injury to the plaintiff is not a necessary result of a treatment by an X-ray machine. While the evidence is not as conclusive as it might be, yet, we are of the opinion that the testimony is to the effect that the result that followed the use of the X-ray is not a necessary nor the known and usual result which follows an

application of the character made by the use thereof upon the plaintiff. More precisely the doctrine 'res ipsa loquitur' asserts that whenever a thing which produced an injury is shown to have been under the control and management of the defendant, and the occurrence is such as in the ordinary course of events does not happen if due care has been exercised, the fact of injury itself will be deemed to afford sufficient evidence to support a recovery in the absence of any explanation to support a recovery in the absence of any explanation of the defendant tending to show that the injury was not due to his want of care."

In the case at bar, it is admitted and undisputed that the lamps which were used in treating the plaintiff were under the exclusive control of the defendants. Plaintiff testified that the defendant Zupo upon being shown plaintiff's ankle stated that they had burned her and that they were sorry and wanted to know if she would come back to their place of business and see what they could do for her. The defendants, of course, denied that they ever made such a statement to the plaintiff. Whether or not such a statement was made was for the jury to decide. The trial court was of the opinion that the jury could do nothing more than speculate as to the cause of plaintiff's injuries. How the court could reach such a conclusion is difficult to see, in view of plaintiff's testimony, the medical evidence, and the admission of defendant Zupo, and the fact that the doctrine of res ipsa applies in this case.

It is, of course, an elementary proposition of law that liability for an injury cannot be predicated upon conjecture or speculation. It must be based upon actual proof, both of negligence and of a causal relation between that negli-

gence and the injury sustained. The cause of an accident may be said to be speculative when from a consideration of all the facts it is as likely that it happened from one cause as another.

See *Frescoln v. Puget Sound Traction Co.*, 90 Wash. 59, 155 P. 395.

There is no evidence whatsoever in the case at bar to indicate that the plaintiff's injury was from any other cause than the treatment given her by defendants. Where is there any evidence that plaintiff's injury was just as likely due to some other cause than it was the treatment given her by defendants? There is none. There was nothing for the jury to speculate about; it was whether they would believe the testimony offered on behalf of plaintiff or that of defendants.

A case which in principle is on all fours with the case at bar is the case of *Zimmerman v. Auerbach*, 81 Utah 554, 17 P. (2d) 251. This was an action by plaintiff for injuries to her caused by the negligence of defendant's employee in giving a permanent wave. Plaintiff testified in substance that before giving the permanent wave treatment her hair was examined by the operator who asked whether she had ever used anything on her hair, to which she answered, "Yes, I have used some peroxide on the back." The operator stated that they would not take the responsibility of determining what sort of a permanent wave best suited her hair and called the defendant, who after examination said her hair would take any kind of wave that they had in the shop. The operator then proceeded to give her hair a "Duart

Wave" and handed plaintiff a watch with instructions to advise the operator at the end of five minutes after the electric current was applied. After one or two minutes, plaintiff complained of pain and that her head was being burned, and the operator told her that she would have to stand a little heat. Plaintiff again complained of burning, but the operator did not turn off the electric current until the expiration of the five minutes. After the electrical appliances were removed, the hair was discolored, streaked, sticky, brittle and came out when touched. In order to present a respectable appearance plaintiff was compelled to have her hair cut and to wear a wig until it grew out again; that as a result of the treatment plaintiff's scalp was blistered and she became sick and suffered physical pain and mental distress.

The evidence showed that the injury was caused by the use of the wrong chemical solution and the application of heat for a longer time than appropriate for hair which had been treated with a bleach solution. The treatment given was that ordinarily given to natural hair. By the evidence the issue was narrowed to the question of whether plaintiff had told defendant that she had used peroxide in her hair. Defendant's testimony was to the effect that plaintiff was asked if she had used dyes, restoratives or tonics, and that she said that she had not, and that she was then given the treatment applicable to natural hair. This issue was submitted to the jury by appropriate instructions. There was a verdict and judgment for plaintiff.

It was the contention of the appellant that the injury to plaintiff's hair and scalp was as likely to have occurred

from something other than the treatment given by defendant, and thus the jury would have to speculate with respect to how the injury occurred. The court in considering this, concluded that it was for the jury to determine whether or not the defendant had been careless and negligent in the treatment of plaintiff and that it was not speculative.

A reading of that case will indicate a fact situation very similar to the case at bar.

An interesting Utah case which will throw much light on the question involved in this case is the case of *Peterson v. Richards*, 73 Utah 59; 272 Pac. 229. That was an action by plaintiff against defendant to recover damages for injuries sustained by plaintiff during the course of an operation being performed upon her by the defendant. The testimony showed that defendant was performing an abdominal operation on plaintiff. After the operation and while plaintiff was coming out of the anesthetic, she complained of her hand. Upon examination of plaintiff's hand, it was found that the fingers had been smashed. Plaintiff's hand was in perfect condition before entering the operating room. It could have been smashed by the operating table or by the bed upon which plaintiff was placed after leaving the operating room and which was manipulated up and down while she was coming out of the anesthetic.

It was the plaintiff's contention that after she left the hospital and consulted the defendant, that the defendant admitted to her and to her husband that he had injured plaintiff's hand by crushing it in the crevices on the operating table. The defendant denied ever having made such

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