1948

Glendora Jackson v. Arthur Larron Colston and Mary A. Zupo, doing business as Posture-Form Studio : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

Counsel for appellant take the position that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is applicable here. We challenge this position on the ground that the plaintiff and the defendant together were using these lamps. The plaintiff was conscious and free to move her foot and was required to cooperate with the defendants in the placing of the lamps with respect to plaintiff's foot and the duration and manner of the use of the lamps. The plaintiff did not testify that the lamps burned her or that she suffered any burns at all. Counsel seek to come in under the purported statement of Mary Zupo, the operator, as plaintiff says Mary used the words, "Oh, yes, they had burned me, and she was sorry." Certainly Mary Zupo was not qualified as an expert to testify to the burn as a fact. An unsworn extra-judicial statement is of no greater effect.

On the question of what is meant by exclusive control, we direct the Court's attention to the following cases:

Clark et ux vs. City of Bremerton, Washington,
97 Pac. (2d) 112.

Stanolind Oil & Gas Co., vs. Bunce, Wyoming, 62
Pac. (2d) 1297.

In this case the Court stated at page 1301:

"Of similar import are the essentials of the doctrine as well phrased by Dean Wigmore, 5 Wigmore on Evidence (2d Ed.) 498, Sec. 2509, thus:

‘(1) The apparatus must be such that in the ordinary instance no injurious operation is to be expected unless from a careless construction, inspection, or user; (2) Both inspection and user must have been at the time of the injury in the control of the party charged; (3) The injurious occurrence or condition must have happened irrespective of any *voluntary* action at the time by the party injured.’

“And the learned author supplements this statement:

‘It may be added that the particular force and justice of the presumption, regarded as a rule throwing upon the party charged the duty of producing evidence, consists in the circumstance that the chief evidence of the true cause, whether culpable or innocent, is practically accessible to him but inaccessible to the injured person.’ ”

Honea et al vs. City Dairy, Inc., 140 P. (2d) 369.
Morrison vs. LeTourneau Co. of Georgia, 138 F. (2d) 339.

The Court here at page 341 stated:

“It is urged that the pilot, LeTourneau, was not licensed to carry passengers, and that he violated the Federal regulations and statute in that the pilot had only a private pilot’s license and was not authorized to take passengers aloft, and that this constituted negligence per se. This contention of appellant overlooks the further requisite that the violation of the statute must be the proximate cause of the injury. The evidence here wholly fails to show the proximate cause of the injury, but leaves this important issue entirely

to conjecture and speculation.”

Brooks vs. Utah Hotel Co., 159 P. (2d) 127; 108 U. 220.

We challenge this claim on the further ground that the purported statement of Mary Zupo, a mere layman, is not and cannot be considered an admission of the defendants that they injured or caused the injury to the plaintiff's ankle. We again point out that the plaintiff never testified that she *was burned*, and the purported statement cannot be held as an admission or as evidence that the defendants had burned the ankle of the plaintiff. The statement does not refer to the ankle and does not refer to any treatment, and lacks in time and certainty so that there is no evidence of the cause of the plaintiff's injury before the Court. The evidence showed at one time an ulcerated condition of the ankle. The evidence also showed split heel and split toe and cracked flesh about the foot which was never exposed to the heat and was always protected from the heat by the shoe and the stocking.

The Court and the jury were then left to speculate as to what did cause the sores and ulcerations on the plaintiff's foot and ankle, and the Court was right in refusing to submit the question of other possible causes to the jury and leave them to so speculate.

The position of the appellant is challenged further on the ground that under the undisputed evidence—and the plaintiff made no effort of any kind to dispute the testimony of Dr. Plumb—it was utterly impossible for

these lamps—the only lamps used—placed as they were and used as they were—to cause any burn of any kind upon the plaintiff's foot. Dr. Plumb testified, after examining the two lamps involved (Exhibits 3 and 4, Tr. 255), as follows:

“Q. (by Mr. Coray): I ask you to look also at this lamp, Dr. Plumb, on which I now have my hand, and ask you if you have ever seen and examined this lamp?

A. I have examined both lamps today and tested them.

THE COURT: They might to avoid confusion, they might be marked as exhibits even though they are not left here and placed in the exhibit room; they might be withdrawn.

MR. CORAY: We have no objection.

THE COURT: If that is marked Exhibit “3” and that is marked Exhibit “4” then the record will have some means of identifying the two exhibits.

MR. CORAY: That is agreeable, Your Honor.

May the record show Miss Zupo identified the lamps, Exhibit “3” now marked, as being the lamp on the second table, and Exhibit “4” being the lamp used on the third table.

THE COURT: I assume no objection to that.

MR. HANSON: If that is the fact,—you folks didn't offer them.

THE COURT: The record will show.

(Thereupon defendants' Exhibits “3” and “4” are marked for identification.)

Q. (by Mr. Coray): Now, Doctor, I ask you to state if you will, what your examination of Exhibit "3" consisted, that is what you did in the course of your examination of it?

A. I measured its power input, and roughly its power output, its electro magnetic control; it is not a lamp.

Q. Will you state whether or not you took the object apart and examined the interior?

A. I took it all apart and examined the inside to be sure it was in good working order.

Q. Will you tell the Court and Jury what is contained inside of this object?

A. There is an annular coil of wire which has a small iron core sticking out toward the glass and when that is put on a lighting circuit, 120 v. lighting circuit it consumes about 100 watts and makes a magnet.

Q. I see. Now, Doctor, does an object of that type have any heating power, any burning power whatsoever?

A. Yes, it has a slight amount of what is called infra-red radiation of heat and that amount would be less than 25 watts.

Q. So that I might understand you then, is the amount of heat, or burning, or sensation which is derived from that about equivalent to a 25 watt globe?

A. Or less.

Q. I see,—and what about the magnetic effect that is produced by that object, what can you tell about that, Doctor?

A. It will pick up small nails, hairpins, pins and things of that sort.

Q. Do the magnetic forces which emanate from that lamp when it is running at full power, have any detrimental effect on the human body?

MR. HANSON: If you know.

A. Say that again please.

Q. If you know, do you know whether the magnetic forces which emanate from that lamp have any effect on the human body?

A. I know they do not.

* * * *

Q. (by Mr. Coray): Will you explain your reason for your conclusion in that regard, Doctor?

A. The total magnetic flux comes out of that generator there, that coil would be less than the total magnetic lines through a person's body standing close to it, than the normal lines of force traveling through their body from the north pole to the south pole of this earth.

Q. Am I to understand then, Doctor, from your testimony there are magnetic lines of force running from the north pole to the south pole that continuously go through a person's body on this earth?

A. All the time, day and night.

Q. And am I to understand the magnetic force exerted in Exhibit "3" is less than the magnetic powers from the north to south pole?

A. True.

Q. Doctor, from your examination of that object, which we have called Exhibit "3", I ask you to assume the following set of facts:

That over a period of approximately one month a patient is placed, we will say touching the glass portion of this object, Exhibit "3", for a period of approximately ten minutes on about five or six—make it about eleven occasions, and the lamp is turned on, or the object is turned on with its full force and power, could, or do you have an opinion whether or not Exhibit "3" could cause a burn upon that person?

A. My opinion is no.

Q. And will you tell us the reason for that opinion, please, Doctor?

A. In the first place the magnetism would not burn.

Q. Is there any other possibility of a burn resulting from it?

A. And I told you before there is only a small amount of heat comes out of that, less than 25 watts, and 25 watts two or three inches from a person's body would not burn them.

Q. Now, from your examination, Doctor, is there anything between the coil contained in Exhibit "3" and the glass which appears on the front of it?

A. No, except a small piece of iron.

Q. What is this that renders the inside invisible from the outside?

A. A piece of paper, asbestos—by the way

I think it is asbestos paper which could keep heat from going into a person's body.

Q. Have you operated and turned this lamp on, Doctor?

A. Yes, and measured the power.

Q. After the lamp has been running for a period of time, say fifteen minutes, is that ample to maintain its maximum heat?

A. Yes.

Q. I will ask you to state whether or not it is perceptible for a human hand or a person's body in feeling the heat from the outside?

A. If you wanted to hold it there twenty or thirty minutes you will feel a slight amount of warmth, nothing more than a slight amount of warmth.

* * * *

Q. (by Mr. Coray): Then, Doctor, I call your attention to Exhibit "4", which I believe you also examined?

A. Yes.

Q. And will you tell us what Exhibit "4" is please, Doctor?

A. It is an ordinary infra-red heat lamp.

Q. Did you make measurements as to the—

A. Input.

Q. —input and output energy of that?

A. At the normal voltage that is here in the building the input—or any here in town—the input on that is not over 240 watts, and it has a

controller on so you can turn that down to much less than that.

Q. The maximum intake is 240 watts?

A. Maximum.

Q. Yes.

A. And with the controller you can turn that down to about 100 watts.

Q. How does that controller work to control voltage?

A. Resistance rheostat in the back of the lamp with an adjustable handle on it.

Q. Now, Doctor, how does this lamp, Exhibit "4", compare with other devices that we are commonly familiar with, can you give us any comparison so we can understand about how much power that is?

A. I have brought along a few lamps, I have put on the table; the first one at the west is the largest one, that is 1000 watts.

* * * *

Q. Now, I ask you, Doctor, if you are able to compare the amount of energy heat which comes out of Exhibit "4" with the amount of energy that comes out of the sun as felt on this earth?

A. The amount of energy which in the summer time shines on your body as infra-red radiation from the sun, if you are outdoors, would be more than the amount of that energy that comes

Q. By that you mean Exhibit "4"?
out of that unit there.

A. Yes.

Q. So then am I to understand, Doctor, that you are more likely to suffer a burn from having been in the sunlight on a summer day for ten minutes, than you are to be under the lamp Exhibit "4" for the same period of time?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, Doctor, I ask you to assume the following facts: That a woman goes to a studio for treatment, that for over a period of approximately one month, on eleven separate occasions, she is placed under this lamp, Exhibit "4", with the lamp at a distance of approximately two feet from her body and with the rays of the lamp shining directly on the top of her ankles,—and I ask you to assume that in all, except the last one or two of those eleven trips, she wore her shoes and on all occasions she wore stockings which were not removed, and those treatments took place never oftener than every other day, and some at intervals of four or five days between them.

Do you have an opinion whether or not this lamp, Exhibit "4" could cause a burn upon the flesh or person of that lady?

A. I would say a normal person's flesh could not be burned especially when you consider the shoe and the stockings which are both non-conductors, tending to stop the radiation from coming in."

The mere statement claimed by the plaintiff, Mrs. Jackson, to have been made by the defendant Zupo, as she testified: "Oh, yes, they had burned me, and she

was sorry," is not, in the face of the physical facts as to the location and use of the lamps by the defendant and the testimony of Dr. Plumb, which stands wholly undisputed, *substantial evidence*. This is especially true when it is considered that defendant Zupo was wholly without sufficient medical training to recognize a burn by the lamp, if in fact there was any burn. We direct the Court's attention to the case of *Haarstritch vs. Oregon Short Line*, 70 Utah, 552, 262 Pac. 100, at page 562, the Court said:

"The most pointed evidence on the part of the plaintiff as to when the freight car came into view is that of the witness Howlett, who testified that he first saw the car when it reached the center of the street railway track and that the automobile was then within 15 or 20 feet of the crossing. It only need be stated here that the testimony of Mr. Howlett in that respect flies in the face of uncontroverted physical facts and therefore is not substantial evidence."

With this as the only testimony before it, the jury (as to the use of the lamps and this being wholly undenied) could but only speculate as to what did cause the sores and ulcers on the plaintiff's ankle and foot, and such evidence could under no possible theory sustain a verdict or finding that the use of the lamps was the proximate cause of the injury. Under such circumstances, the Court could only direct a verdict for the defendants, and it would have been a clear error to have submitted the case to the jury for speculation. We direct

the Court's attention in support of this proposition to the following Utah cases:

Reid vs. Railroad, 39 Utah 617.

In this case the Court said at page 621:

“It is a familiar rule that where the undisputed evidence of the plaintiff, from which the existence of an essential fact is sought to be inferred, points with equal force to two things, one of which renders the defendant liable and the other not, the plaintiff must fail. So in this case, in order to entitle respondent to recover it was essential for her to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the cow entered upon the right of way through the broken down fence. This the respondent failed to do.”

Richards vs. Railroad Company, 41 Utah 99.

In this case the Court considered to what extent, from the fact that a train struck the horses found killed on the tract, negligence could be inferred, and whether the inference followed from the mere killing that the engineer had an opportunity to stop the train, and there was, therefore, negligence, and then stated at page 109:

“No doubt negligence may be inferred, but there must be some fact or facts from which the inference may be deduced. But, assuming that respondent could rely upon the inferences referred to for the purpose of making out a *prima facie* case of negligence, were not those inferences fully met and overthrown by positive and unchallenged evidence produced on behalf of appellant?

“If this be true, then this case comes squarely within the rule announced by this court in the case of *Christensen v. Railroad Co.*, 35 Utah, 137, 99 Pac. 676, 20 L.R.A. (N.S.) 255, 18 Ann. Cas. 1159.

In that case the rule is stated in the seventh head-note thus:

‘Inferential evidence of negligence is overcome by defendant’s undisputed testimony showing that there was no negligence; and, where plaintiff’s case rests entirely on such inferential evidence, the case must be taken from the jury.’

“In *Goss v. N.P. Ry. Co.*, 48 Or. 439, 87 Pac. 149, the rule is stated in the following language:

‘Where the evidence of negligence is entirely inferential, and the testimony for the defendant is clear and undisputed to the effect that there was no negligence, the plaintiff’s case is overcome as a matter of law, and it becomes the duty of the judge to take the case from the jury.’ ”

The appellant asked the Court to infer that the use of the lamp caused the ulcer and splitting of plaintiff’s heel and toe, which were always protected and never exposed to the lamp.

Haarstritch vs. O. S. L., 70 Utah 552.

The case of *Peterson vs. Richards*, 73 Utah 59, 272 Pac. 229, is clearly distinguished. In that case there was no question as to the crushing of the hand of plain-

tiff. There was no question of proximate cause. The only question was as to whether the injury occurred in the operating room. Here the existence of an ankle ulcer is proven, the cause is not shown, and the Court refused to ask the jury to speculate as to the cause.

We respectfully submit that there was no error in the ruling of the Court and that the judgment of the trial Court should be in all respects affirmed.

CLYDE & CORAY,
SKEEN, THURMAN & WORSLEY,
*Attorneys for Defendants
and Respondents*